IN THE COURT OF SESSION, THALASSERY

Present: Sri. K.T. Nisar Ahammed, Sessions Judge.

Crl.M.C. No0.1700/2024

(Crime No. 1149/2024 of Kannur Town Police Station)
Petitioner/Accused :-

P.P. Divya, D/o A.P. Chandran, Aged 40 years,
Thejus, PO.Irinavu, Kannur Taluk, Kannur district-670301.

Respondent/Complainant:-

State: The SHO, Kannur Town Police Station
Rep. by Public Prosecutor, Thalassery.

Petition under Section 482 of BNSS 2023 for anticipatory bail.

This petition coming on the 24™ day of October, 2024 for final hearing
before me in the presence of Sri.K.Viswan, Advocate for the petitioner, and
the Sri.K.Ajith Kumar, Public Prosecutor for the State/respondent, and
S/Sri.John S Ralph, P.M.Sajitha, Biju C Elavumkal, Sanu.S.K, Minisha.M and
Dayana Tom, Advocates for defacto complainant, and having stood over for
consideration till this day, the Court passed the following:-

ORDER

Petition for Anticipatory Bail filed under Section 482 of BNSS.

2. Petitioner is the accused in Crime No0.1149/2024 of Kannur
- Town Police Station, registered for the offence u/s. 108 of BNS.

3. The prosecution case in brief is as follows:

Mr. Naveen Babu, was the Additional District Magistrate
(ADM) of Kannur He got transfer to his native district,

Pathanamthitta. On 14.10.2024 at 3pm, his colleagues and
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subordinates had arranged a farewell function at Collectorate

Conference Hall, Kannur. At that time, the accused herein, the
President of District Panchayath, Kannur came to the function,

uninvited. She herself switched on the mike and started a speech

under the guise of felicitation. She made allegation of corruption

against Mr. Naveen Babu, in the presence of his superior, District
Collector, Kannur, colleagues and also the subordinates. Apart from
making such comments, she had made a threat that, “within two days,
you all will know the reasons.” She herself invited local Television
Channel, to cover the function and published the video of her speech
in the media including social ‘media and thereby insulted and
humiliated the ADM, in public. Because of the humiliation and insult,
that too in the presence of his superior, colleagues and subordinates,
Mr. Naveen Babu, ADM Kannur committed suicide on the very next
day. Thus, the prosecution alleges that the accused had instigated
and thereby abetted the suicide of Mr. Naveen Babu, ADM, Kannur
and so, committed the offence punishable under Section 108 of BNS.
Police registered the crime initially under Section 194 of BNSS and
later, after investigation altered to Sec.108 of BNS.

4. The petition averments in brief are as follows:

The petitioner was the President of District Panchayath,
Kannur till she resigned on 17.10.2024. She is a Post Graduate and
was working as Announcer, All India Radio. She started her career by
joining Student Federation of India and she became the Union
Councilor, Kannur University and Vice Chairman. She was the
member of District Committee of SFI and member of Central
Committee, DYFI. Now she is the member of District Committee of
CPI(M) and State Joint Secretary of “Janathipathya Mabhila
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Association”. She is the member of Senate, Kannur University and

also Kerala State “Padya Padhathi Karikkulam”. She is the member of

governing body of Kerala State Kudumbasree Mission and Chairperson

of Kannur District Planning Committee. She was the member of

District Panchayath, Kannur during the period 2010-2015, Vice

President during the period 2015-2020 and later became the

President of District Panchayath from 2020 till her resignation. She
was also the member of Kerala State Football Team. She is a recipient
of several awards including APJ Abdul Kalam Trust Puraskar, Vanitha
Ratna Puraskkaram, Kannadi Purasskkaram and Aasadi Puraskkaram.

etc. Because of her hard work, she is having good reputation and high
esteem in general public. During her tenure, Kannur District

Panchayath received various awards including the

best District
Panchayath in the

State of Kerala and also obtained world record by
publishing 1500 books of the students in one programme.

5. The petitioner has made several creative interference in
eradication of corrupt practices in public office under Kannur District
Panchayath. The interference of the petitioner had made a great
impact in reducing the corrupt practices at District Hospital, Kannur.
She used to attend the grievance of the general public and advices

the public servants to provide appropriate and speedy services. It is

her duty to eradicate corruption, malpractices and harassment from

the side of the Government officials coming under District

Panchayath, Kannur. She gave paramount consideration for the

welfare and wellbeing of the general public and expeditious disposal
of the files.

6. While so, one Mr. Gangadharan approached her raising
complaint against the deceased ADM, alleging corrupt practices. One
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Mr. Prasanth approached her by complaining inordj

disposal of his applic
petitioner

nate delay ip the
ation pending before the ADM, Kannur

the file. But

complaint on 10.10.2024, to the Hon'’b

le Chief Minister of Kerala.
7.

On 14.10.2024, there was an official pro

gramme namely
“avIQany OOPHBRYBAWY ateIaloemo”,

Organized by the Scheduled

Caste Development Department at District Planning Hall at 10a.m. It

as
there was an informal discussion

ict Collector, District Collector

ff proposed to be arranged for
ADM, Kannur in the evening at 3p.m and the -petitioner agreed to

attend the function. Till 3'0 Clock, she was in her chamber and then

she contacted the District Collector and enquired about the function
and District Collector

commenced.

was inaugurated by the petitioner and District Collector, Kannur w
the chief guest. During the meeting,

between the petitioner and  Distr
informed her that there is a send-o

informed her that, the function is being
She rushed to the Collectorate Conference Hall and
attended the function. From the function,

she was invited by
Smt.Sruthy,

Deputy Collector, Kannur for addressing the gathering.
The petitioner gave a speech by affirming importance of the best and

appropriate services to be provided to the general public. The full text
of the speech is as follows:
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OHIMITRE DalaMo MDA [ERM B@ TVOAWOGT ISEHEITD FMIMETEIAUMOD AT

M  @YWaOIEIMNE. @M @JCONS  HMDOEMNEBBRBo  HSIQETE. €D

SH)REMEERW 2 AlAUmMio 6N’ dlanosepamacio.”

8. The petitioner made the above comments bonafide and she
had no ill will. She wants the public servants to give speedy services
to the public. She adviced the ADM to give speedy services to the
people of Pathanamthitta also where the ADM was transferred. She
never intended to hurt anybody. The petitioner’s intention was to
ensure best services to the public from the Government servants.
The petitioner never intended to drive anybody to commit suicide. She
did not commit any offence. The petitioner has got a family consists of
her husband, working as Attender, Pariyaram Medical College, her
daughter studying in 10% standard and aged sick parents. She is
looking after the aged p.arents. The petitioner is ready to co-operate
with the investigation. The report filed by the Police is on account of
the pressure of the political opponents. The entire allegation is false.
The petitioner apprehends arrest and torture by the respondent. She

Is ready to abide any condition. Hence, the learned counsel prays for
pre-arrest bail.

9. The wife of the deceased Naveen Babu, ADM

appeared
through Adv. John S. Ralph and Adv.PM.Sajitha and filed objection.

Their objections in brief are as follows:

The bereaved widow of an honest man is before the court
seeking justice for a life lived with nothing but honour and integrity to
uphold the official position he held. The famous Greek philosopher
Plato said “ There are three classes of men; Lovers of Wisdom, Lovers

of Honour and Lovers of Gain”. The tragedy that unfurled and shook
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the conscience of the people in the State was a battle between the
petitioner/accused, a lover of gain and the victim, a lover of honour;
and it is up to the Court now to be the lover of wisdom to uphold the
Honour for which an honest civil servant scarified his life.  This is a
case in which political power overpowered honesty and integrity of an
officer. Here, the accused has instigated and thereby abetted the
commission of suicide of Mr. Naveen Babu, ADM, Kannur. The
premeditated and intentional acts of the accused was to humiliate
the deceased in public and to circulate the same through Media. The
accused was never invited to the function on 14.10.2024. It was an
inhouse function of the office staff. Accused came to the function with
a pre-arranged videographer with the sole intention of telecasting her
speech. Her action of quitting the function without being present
while memento was being handed over to the deceased shows her

intention of humiliating the deceased. Immediately after quitting the

function, her speech was aired and circulated. It was circulated even

at Pathanamthitta, where the deceased lived and was expected to

work until his retirement. The allegation raised by the accused in the

function is absolutely false. The deceased was a man of highest

integrity, known to all and the accused had no proof with her to show

otherwise. The allegation of bribe made by the accused in the speech

turned to be false since one person mentioned in the application

refuted the allegation. The concluding portion of her speech was a

threat to the deceased for further harassment by using her political

power.  There is close proximity between the speech and the suicide

which shows that it was on that instigation, the deceased committed
suicide.
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10. For a man of honour, his integrity is more precious than his

own life. So, it can be gathered that the willful actions on the part of

the accused had made the deceased with no other o
commit suicide.

offence alleged

imprisonment.

ption except to
There is a Prima face case against the accused. The

is very serious and punishable for ten vyears
Here, the acts of the accused are voluntarily. Even

according to the accused, she was a person who was actively involved
in politics for the past decades. Hence, she had every reason to

believe that a man of integrity will commit such an act because his
reputation in public is destroyed.

11. Accused claims that she is a crusader against corruption and
that prompted her to make such comments in the function. Even from
the petition averments, one can see that her claim is false and it is
only a camouflage to explain her malicious conduct. It is her case that

one Mr. Prasanth approached her on 09.10.2024

at 4.30pm and
informed that he obtained order from the deceased by paying one lakh

rupees as bribe. It is her case that she advised him to file a
complaint to the Chief Minister If she is a crusader against
corruption, she should have immediately taken action against Mr,
Prasanth, for bribing a high-ranking officer of the Government . The
alleged complaint given by Mr. Prasanth to the Chief Minister of
Kerala on 10.10.2024, is found to be fake and no such complaint has
been received at the office of Chief Minister. If there was a complaint
as alleged, then action should have been taken against Mr. Prasanth
u/s.8 of the Prevention of Corruption Act. If the claim of the petitioner
is correct, she should have immediately informed the same to District,
Collector, who was the immediate superior of the deceased. Accused

claims that she met the District Collector in the morning and also in
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the evening function. She had informal discussion with the Distriq,
Collector. She had no case that she revealed the above allegations of 2
bribery to the District Collector. After the incident, she has

influenced the persons to give false evidence to create situations
favourable to her.

12. In the bail application, she never undertook that she will not
influence the withesses. The political power being used by the
petitioner shows that she is capable of manipulating, intimidating and
influencing the witnesses through money and muscle power. The
Government has deputed the Joint-commissioner of Land Revenue,

Smt. A.Geetha IAS to enquire about the incident and she had recorded

the statements of all witnesses  concerned, except the

petitioner/accused. That itself shows her non co-operation for the

énquiry and investigation. Hence, for the above reasons, the petition
for pre-arrest bail is liable to be dismissed.

13. The learned Public Prosecutor has produced the CD file.
14. Heard.

15. The learned counsel, Adv. Sri. K. Viswan appearing for the

petitioner/accused has submitted that the petitioner is a person of
high repute and having high esteem in general public. Because of her

hard work, starting from college days itself, she worked in SFI, DYFI

and now the member of District Committee of CPI(M). She was
member of District Panchayath for long period. Then Vice President

and from 2020 onwards, as the President of District Panchayath,

Kannur till her resignation. She is recipient of several awards because
of her excellent service. During her tenure, b

ecause of her best
performance, the District Panchayath received several awards
including the best District Panchayath in the State.

The learned
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counsel has further submitted that she is actively involved in anti-
corruption movement. She had taken stern stand about corrupt
practices in the Government institutions under the District
Panchayath. Her active intervention had a great impact in reducing
corruption in District Hospital, Kannur, As part of the anti-corruption
movement and being a crusader against corruption, she made a
bonafide comment based on the reliable information received by her.
Her intention was to see that corruption is eradicated and public
receives best service from Government servants, speedily. The
learned counsel has argued that one Mr. Gangadharan and Mr.
Prasanth had raised allegations of corruption against the deceased.
Along with the bail application, she has produced the copy of the
complaint given by Mr. Gangadharan. Along with that she has also
produced the photographs regarding the awards and her attending
functions against corruption. Mr. Prasanth approached her and
complained that an application given by him for NOC for a Petrol
pump, was kept by the deceased ADM and he sought her interference.
She contacted the deceased and requested to look into the grievance
of Mr. Prasanth. As there was no positive movement from the side of
ADM, she again contacted him and requested to visit the place. Even
then, there waAs huge delay. Mr. Prasanth repeatedly approached her
by complaining inaction on the part of ADM. She has assured Mr
Prasanth that the file will be disposed of, soon. On 09.10.2024, Mr.
Prasanth met her and told that he got the file disposed by giving
rupees one lakh, as bribe to ADM. She immediately advised Mr
Prasanth to file a complaint to Chief Minister and to her knowledge,
on 10.10.2024 itself, he filed a complaint before Chief Minister.
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16. On 14.10.2024, morning there was an official function for
her and the District Collector. In that meeting, they had an informg)
discussion. At that time, District Collector told her that there is g
function today at 3p.m, to give sendoff to Mr. Naveen Babu, ADM

who got a transfer to Pathanamthitta. She told the District Collector
that she will attend the function. At around 3p.m, she contacted
District Collector and she was informed that function being started

She rushed to the Conference hall of District Collectorate, Kannur and
she was given a seat. Deputy Collector invited her to felicitate in the
function. So, in the function, she made bonafide comments that the
Government servants are supposed to serve the people without delay.
In the meeting, she specified about the complaint received from Mr.
Prasanth i.e. regarding an NOC for a petrol pump at Chengalayi. She

made the comment that, though she had made a recommendatlc;n to
the ADM, he had taken lot of time for giving NOC

She has also
attributed extraneous consideration for the issuance of NOC. She

advised ADM to give better service to the people at Pathanamthitta,
where he was transferred. Immediately after the speech, she quit the

function by saying that,

“she does not want to be there in the
programme when the memento ‘was given to ADM.

” So, the argument
was that, based on the complaint from Mr. Gangadharan and Prasanth,

she was of the bonafide belief that the deceased had received bribe.
She being a crusader against corruption

, in order to avoid such
incidents in future, attended the function and made the bonafide

comment that such incidents should not be repeated
Government servants are supposed to give
better and speedy manner.

The
service to people in a

She never intended to drive ADM to
commit suicide. She never instigated the suicide of the deceased. The

]earn,\ R
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learned counsel has further submitted that she made the comments in

a public function. She being a crusader against corruption and
President of the District Panchayath, can attend function even without
invitation. ~ Whether she was invited for the function or not is
immaterial. The comments made by her in the meeting is not the
reason for the unfortunate incident. Based on the complaint of Mr.
Prasanth, the 'Vigilance and Anti-corruption Bureau has already
started proceedings against the deceased and that may be the reason
for the unfortunate incident. The learned counsel has further
submitted that, even if the entire allegation is accepted as true, no
custodial interrogation is required, as nothing to be seized from the
petitioner. The petitioner is a lady having several commitments to the
family consists of aged parents, husband and a daughter. She is ready
to abide any condition. Hence, the learned counsel prays for pre-arrest
bail. The learned counsel has relied on the rulings reported in AIR
2010 SC 1446, AIR 2015 SC 3351, 1995 Supp (3) SCC 438, 2017 (5)

KHC 543, 2024 (5) KHC 305, 2019 (3) SCC 315, AIR 2005 SC 3100,
2024(3) KCR 2920 and 2015 KHC 3015.

17. The learned Public Prosecutor vehemently opposed the bail
application and submitted as follows:

The deceased was the ADM of Kannur. Till date, there was no
complaint of any corrupt practices against him. He has got a good

reputation and high esteem among his colleagues, subordinates and

also in general public. When he has got a transfer to his native

district Pathanamthitta, the staff

council/his  colleagues and
subordinates staff of

Collectorate, Kannur has arranged a farewell
function on 14.10.2024 at 3pm, at Collectorate Conference hall.
Being the head of the institution, the District Collector chaired the



ly contacted the
Kannur Vision Bureau Chief, Mr. Manoj

about the function and demanded to cover

local Television Channe],

Kumar and informed him

even before the accused coming to the
function, videographer of

courtesy and respect to a public s
Collector who

"o
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18. As per the above, one can see that the accused started the
speech by saying that, she came to know about the farewell function
while she was passing through, and that itself shows that she was
never invited to this function. So, her case that she was invited to this
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function by the District Collector is totally false. In the speech, she
had made specific allegation against ADM. She had attributeq
extraneous consideration for issuance of NOC to Mr. Prasanth. At
the end of the speech, she made a threatening remark that, “within
two days, you all people will know the reasons”. Immediately after
the speech, she left the conference hall by saying that, “she wish that
she should not be present when the memento is given to the ADM”.
So, the learned Public Prosecutor has submitted that going by the
speech made by the accused, even a layman can understand that her
intention was to insult and humiliate the ADM, in public. Her

intention was to humiliate and insult ADM by making baseless

allegations of corruption in the presence of his superior and

subordinates. It is pertinent to note that, even without invitation, the

accused came to the function and that too by inviting the Media to

cover her speech in the function. Immediately after the speech, the

recorded video was telecasted and also circulated in social media. It
Is pertinent to note that it was telecasted and circulated even at
Pathanamthitta, the native place of ADM and where he was
transferred. So, the intention of the accused was very clear that she
wants to humiliate and insult ADM in public. This act of the accused

amounts to instigation and thereby abetted the suicide of ADM. It is
further submitted that, even if, the Investigating Officer has given

notice to the accused to appear for questioning, she did not. That

stigation. Though
Custodial interrogation is not required, that is not a ground to grant
onsible
ed the

. If the

shows that she is not Co-operating with the inve

pre-arrest bail especially in a case of this nature. A very resp
person, the President of District Panchayath has committ
offence under Section 108 of BNS. The offence is very grave
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court is pleased to grant the relief of pre-arrest bail, there is every

chance of influencing the witnesses and it may also give a wrong

message to the society. Hence, the learned Public Prosecutor prays for
dismissal of the petition.

19. The learned counsel who appeared for the wife of the

deceased has also vehemently opposed the petition and submitted as
follows:-

The submission of the learned counsel for the petitioner that
Vigilance and Anti-corruption Bureau has initiated proceedings
against the deceased is totally false. The allegation that Mr. Prasanth
has given a complaint to the Vigilance Department and also to the
Chief Minister is also false. No such complaint was produced before
the court. The prosecution has no case that a Vigilance enquiry has
been initiated. The accused being the President of District Panchayath
has no authority to make any recommendation to ADM, that too
regarding issuance of NOC for a petrol pump. As per the Constitution

of India, President of District Panchayath was given certain powers in
certain areas and which would not cover Petroleum.

The learned
counsel has argued that there is an unholy nexus

between the
accused and Prasanth. There is every reason to suspect that Mr.

Prasanth is a binami. So, to reveal this fact, custodial interrogation of
the accused is required. The act of the accused in attending the
function, which is purely an inhouse function to give sendoff to a
Government servant, and that too without invitation and by inviting
Media, even a layman can understand that it was a pre-planned act of

the accused to humiliate and insult the deceased in the presence of

his superior and subordinates. She herself invited the local media

Channel to cover the function. Immediately after the function, it was
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telecasted in news Channels, she obtained the video from the
Videographer and circulated in social media, she has even Circulateq
the same at Pathanamthitta, the native place of the deceased and to
that place he was transferred. So, it is a preplanned premeditated act
of the accused. It amounts to instigation. The deceased being a person
having good reputation and giving more value to his honour was
compelled to take the extreme step. The learned counsel for the
petitioner has argued that the petitioner never intended to drive the
ADM to commit suicide. True, she may not have intended to drive the

deceased to commit suicide. Going by (Sec.107 of IPC) Sec.45 of BNS,
for instigation, intention is not necess

limbs and only for the third limb, the
and the second limbs, i.e.

ary. The section has got three
intention matters. For the first

instigation and Ccriminal conspiracy,
intention is immaterial.

The learned counsel has Submitted that,
here the act of the accuse

e ————
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“If any person commits suicide, whoever abets
the commission of such suicide, shall be punished
with imprisonment of either description for a term

which may extend to ten years, and shall also be
liable to fine.”

21. Sec.45 of BNS (Sec.107 of IPC) defines the abetment of a
thing. It reads as follows:

“45. Abetment of a thing--A person abets the doing of a thing,
who—
(a)instigates any person to do that thing; or
(b) engages with one or more other person or persons in
any conspiracy for thé doing of that thing, if an act or
illegal omission takes place in pursuance of that
conspiracy, and in order to the doing of that thing; or
(c) intentionally aids, by any act or illegal omission, the
doing of that thing.

Explanation 1.—A person who, by wilful misrepresentation, or by
wilful concealment of a material fact which he is bound to disclose,
voluntarily causes or procures, or attempts to cause or procure, a
thing to be done, is said to instigate the doing of that thing.

Explanation 2.—Whoever, either prior to or at the time of the
commission of an act, does anything in order to facilitate the

commission of that act, and thereby facilitates the commission thereof,
is said to aid the doing of that act.”

22. Here, the allegation against the petitioner/accused is that
she had abetted the suicide of Mr. Naveen Babu, ADM Kannur. Here,
the admitted facts are:- the deceased Naveen Babu was working as
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ADM, Kannur. He committed suicide in between 6p.m on 14:.10,2024

dence near ¢, the

deceased ADM, regarding issuance of NOC to on

starting a petrol Pump at Chengalayi. The accused did not wait tj]] the
end of function. At the end of her Speech, she said that,
S."

e Mr. Prasanth, for

“within two
days, you people will know the reason

does not want to be there at the
deceased ADM”,

case is that, on the Same day morning, there wasg an
official function for her and

the District Collector.
attended the function and the

time, District Collector infor

farewel] function for the dece
hall.

Both of them
sion. At that
nged a

ference

v had an Informal discys

med her that they have arra
ed at 3p.m at Collectorate Con
d agreed to Aattend the function

as

. So, as
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was not invited, she being the President of the District Panch
public servant, there ijg nothing wron
especially,

ayath a
g in attending the function
when she is g Crusader against corruption. She got a
complaint of corruption against the deceased ADM. So, she attended

the function and advised the Government Servants not to repeat such

Instances. She made the comments bonafide. So, according to the

learned counsel, whether she was invited or not, is immaterial. The

learned Public Prosecutor has submitted that neither the District

Collector nor the staff council members invited the petitioner for the

function. It was an inhouse function purely private and not a public

function. Going by the statements of witnesses, the District Collector,
Deputy Collector and the staff, one can see that none of them invited
the accused to this function. Even from the speech itself, one can see
that the petitioner attended the function, uninvited as she starts her

speech by saying that, “while passing through this way she came to
know about this function”.

24. As per the statement of District Collector, it can be seen

that, in the function attended by the district collector and the

petitioner in the morning, they had an informal discussion. At that

time, the petitioner told the district collector that, “she had
information that a file in ADM’s section getting purposefully delayed
related to petrol bunk NOC. She said she would presume the matter
further.” The collector asked if she had a formal written complaint
from the applicant or any evidence to support the claims, to which she

responded that she currently did not have any proof but would check

with the complainant. The collector advised that without being

personally sure of the allegation and without proper evidence, taking

formal action on a mere hearsay allegation would not be feasible.
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Then at 3:13 PM on the same day,

she called the Collector ang tolg
that she would come to the Collecto

rate later, even if it was late. The
collector told her that if it was regarding the allegation she

had raised
in the morning,

it is probably not the appropriate time. At that time

the collector believed that her intention was not to attend the ADM'’s
farewell

4

Imprompty remarks, beginnin

through ang Came to know ab

immediately after her remarks
25

“I am just passing

out the function”. She exited the hall

around 3:55 PM.
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26. Of-course, the learned counsel for the petitioner has

submitted that, being a crusader against corruption and the

President of the District Panchayath, on getting information that a
farewell function is being arranged for the ADM, who got transfer to
Pathanamthitta, she attended the function as she got a complaint of
corruption against ADM. Her intention was to advise the Government
servants not to repeat such instances, but give better service to the
public. She never intended to drive the deceased to commit suicide.
She never intended to humiliate or insult the deceased ADM. Her
comments were bonafide. But, the learned Public Prosecutor as well
as the counsel for the wife of the deceased, has submitted that the
allegation of corruption against the ADM is totally false. The
contention of the petitioner is that one Mr Prasanth has given a
complaint of corruption. It is her case that on 09.10.2024, she was told
by Mr. Prasanth that, he had given one lakh rupees as bribe to the
ADM. It is her case, that based on that, Mr. Prasanth has given a
complaint to the Chief Minister and also to the Vigilance Department.
Vigilance Department has started enquiry. But, the prosecution has no
such case. The petitioner did not produce any document. So, it is
argued that the allegation of corruption against the deceased is totally

false. It is an admitted fact that, the accused contacted the deceased

and recommended for issuance of NOC to Mr. Prasanth. It is her case

that Mr. Prasanth approached her and sought her help as there is
delay in getting NOC from ADM. So, based on that request, she made

recommendation to the ADM. As there was delay, she again

contacted. Mr. Prasanth got NOC after about six months. The
argument of the learned Public Prosecutor and the counsel for the

wife of the deceased is that, since the deceased did not act on the
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recommendation of the accused and there was. delay in issuing Nog

she with the intention of humiliating and insulting the decc.aased, Cam.e
to the function on 14.10.2024, preplanned and premedltate.d.. It is
evident from the statement of the Bureau Chief of Kannur Vision, a
local Television Channel, that the accused herself contacted him and
requested to cover the farewell function of the deceased. It is an
admitted fact that the function was covered by this Channel, Kannur
Vision and telecasted. The video clipping was taken by the accused
and circulated in different groups. So, it is argued that her intention
was to insult or humiliate the deceased ADM. Even before the closure
of this function, the video was telecasted. But, the argument of the
learned counsel for the petitioner was that the petitioner being a
crusader against corruption, wanted to fight against corruption. Her
act of telecasting and sharing the video of the function was with good

intention to warn all the similar minded Government servants all over
Kerala.

X
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28. Now, the question is, whether the above act of the accused

amounts to instigation and abetment of the suicide of the deceased
ADM. The learned counsel for the petitioner has submitted that, even
if, the entire allegation is accepted as true, the above acts of the
accused does not amounts to instigation and abetment of suicide. She
made the comments bonafide, against corruption. Such a person
cannot be sent to Jail for the sole reason that she fought against
corruption by making such comments. The learned counsel has invited
my attention to the ruling reported in AIR 2010 SC 1446 Chitresh

Kumar Chopra vs. State (Govt.of NCT of Delhi) where the apex court
has held that,

“Where the accused had, by his acts or omission
or by a continued course of conduct, created such
circumstances that the deceased was left with no
other option except to commit suicide, in which case,
an “instigation” may have to be inferred. A word

uttered in a fit of anger or emotion without intending

the consequences to actually follow, cannot be said to
be instigation.”

The learned counsel also relied on the ruling reported in AIR

2019 SC 43 M. Arjunan vs. The State. There, the Hon’ble apex court
has held that,

“The act of the accused, however, insulting the
deceased by using abusive language will not, by itself,
constitute the abetment of suicide. There should be
evidence capable of suggesting that the accused

intended by such act to instigate the deceased to
commit suicide.”
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Regarding abetment, the learned counsel has relied on the Ml

reported in AIR 2015 SC 3351 State of Kerala & Others \.]S'
Unnikrishnan Nair & Others. There, the Hon’ble apex court by relying
on its earlier ruling, Kishori Lal v. State of M.P (2007) 10 SccC 797
stated that, “The word “instigate” literally means to provoke, incite,
urge on or bring about by persuasion to do anything. The abetment

may be by instigation, conspiracy or intentional aid, as provided in the

three clauses of Section 107.” There is no quarrel regarding the

above propositions made by the Hon’ble Supreme Court. But, [ am of
the opinion that the above rulings will not help the petitioner herein.
As rightly pointed out by the learned counsel for the wife of the

deceased, Sec.45 of BNS (Sec.107 of IPC) has got three limbs. First
one, instigates any person to do a thing,

ing. It is crystal clear that the

“intention” in the first and the second
limbs. The intention comes only in the third limb. So, one can see that

intention, it amounts to

intention to humiliate and insult the ADM

subordinates ang general public The word
to provoke,

anything. Sq

in front of his Superior,
‘instigate” literally means

ts definitely amounts tg
) of Section 45 of BNS. It is

3
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pertinent to note that, in the rulings relied on by the learned counsel
for the petitioner, the circumstances are entirely different. There were
no pre-planned, premeditated act of the accused. Here, the admitted
facts and circumstances, Prima facie clearly show that the act of the
accused was preplanned and premeditated. It is well evident that she
herself contacted the Bureau Chief of the local Television Channel and
requested to cover the function, in which she was not even invited.
She got it circulated and published. So, the above act is clearly an
instigation.

29. The learned counsel for the petitioner has further invited my
attention to the rulings reported in 1995 Supp (3) SC.438 Prahalad
Das vs. State of M.P and Others, 2017 (5) KHC 543 Sindhu Paul and
Ors vs. State of Kerala and Ors., Shyamkrishna K.R vs. State of Kerala
(Bail Application No0.2578 of 2024 of Hon’ble High Court of Kerala)
and submitted that, even in case where the accused told the victim,
“to go and die,” that will not attract Sec.306 of IPC. Even if, the
superior officer had taken any action or warned or made any
comments, that will not attract Sec.306 of IPC. Even in the case of
Teachers punishes or warn the students, that will not amounts to
instigation or abetment. The remarks that is likely to cause
harassment in ordinary course will not come within the purview of
instigation. But, going by the above rulings of the Hon’ble apex court
and High Court, the circumstances of above cases are entirely
different from the scenario of present case. In none of the above, there
was allegation of pre-planned premeditated act. Here, prima face,
there is clear evidence that the accused attended the farewell function
of the deceased, uninvited and that too by she herself arranging a

local Television Channel. So. it is a pre-planned and premeditated act




30

f the accused. So, in my view, as pointed out by the learned counsg
0 - : . :
for the wife of the deceased, the above rulings will not help the

petitioner herein.

30. The Learned Counsel for the petitioner has relied on the
Judgment in Amudha vs. The State represented by the Inspector of
Police & Anr.( Criminal Appeal No. 1642/2024 Hon’ble Supreme Court
of India) and submitted that mere allegation of harassment is not
sufficient to attract section 306 of IPC. It has to be shown that there is
a positive action in proximity to the time of occurrence on the part of
the accused that led a person to commit suicide. Here the alleged
comments were made by the petitioner on 14-10- 2024 at around 3:00
PM. The deceased committed suicide only on the very next day. So, it

is argued that there is no any positive action in proximity to the

suicide of the deceased. I am not inclined to accept the above

in that particular case, as stated earlier
there is no pre planned premeditated act. There, the Apex Court has

relied on two earlier rulings of the Apex Court. It is true, that there
should be a positive action in proximity to the time of occurrence on

the part of the accused that led a person to commit suicide. Here, the

submission also because,

petitioner had made the allegation of corruption against the deceased
and even threatened that, within two days all of you will know the
reasons. She got her speech recorded and telecasted in television. Got
the video clip and posted in social media. Going by the CD, one can

see that the deceased was about to leave to his native place,

Pathanamthitta in the train at night on 14-10-24. His wife was

waiting for him at Chengannoor railway station. But, he did not board

the train. Then, on the next day, from his o

fficial quarters at Kannur,
he committed suicide,

I am of the opinion that, the acts of the

=




31
petitioner here in, that is raising allegation of corruption in the
presence of his superior and subordinates, recording her speech and

publishing the same in television and social media is having the close

proximity of the occurrence of this case, that is suicide of the
diseased.

31. The learned counsel for the petitioner has further invited my
attention to the ruling reported in Murali and Ors.V. The State of
Kerala and Ors. and submitted that, “the essence of the offence of

abetment to commit suicide is not what the deceased felt but what the

accused intended”. So, the argument was that here, the deceased

might have had a bad feeling about the comments made by the
accused. But, the comments were made bonafide, against corruption.
She had no bad intention. There is no quarrel regarding the

proposition made by the Hon’ble Supreme Court. Here, the entire
circumstance is different from that case.

Here, the accused insulted
the deceased

in a function where she was not even invited. She

herself arranged the Media people and circulated the video of her

speech. As submitted by the learned Public Prosecutor and the

counsel for the wife of the deceased, her intention is well evident.

32. In AIR 2011 SC 312 Siddharam Saltingappa Mhetre v. State

of Maharashtra, the Apex Court has laid down the factors that are to

be taken into consideration while disposing Anticipatory Bail

Application.

i. The nature and gravity of the accusation and the exact role of
the accused must be properly comprehended before arrest is made;

ii. The antecedents of the applicant including the fact as to
whether the accused has previously undergone imprisonment on

conviction by a Court in respect of any cognizable offence;
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lii. The possibility of the applicant to flee from justice;

iv. The possibility of the accused’s likelihood to repeat similar g
the other offences.

v. Where the accusations have been made only with the object of
injuring or humiliating the applicant by arresting him or her.

vi. Impact of grant of anticipatory bail particularly in cases of
large magnitude affecting a very large number of people.

vii. The courts must evaluate the entire available material
against the accused very carefully. The court must also clearly
comprehend the exact role of the accused in the case. The cases in
which accused is implicated with the help of S.34 and S.149 of the
Indian Penal Code, the court should consider with even greater care

and caution because over implication in the cases is a matter of
common knowledge and concern;

vili. While considering the prayer for grant of anticipatory bail, a
balance has to be struck between two factors namely, no prejudice
should be caused to the free, fair and full investigation and there

should be prevention of harassment, humiliation and unjustified
detention of the accused.

ix. The court to consider reasonable apprehension of tampering
of the witness or apprehension of threat to the complainant;

x. Frivolity in prosecution should always be considered and it is
only the element of genuineness that shall have to be considered in
the matter of grant of bail and in the event of there being some doubt
as to the genuineness of the prosecution, in the normal course of
events, the accused is entitled to an order of bail.
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33. The Hon’ble Supreme Court, in Naranjan Singh V. Prabhakar
Rajaram Kharote AIR 1980 SC 785 & Ouran V. Rambilas 2001(6) SCC
338, has repeatedly held that, “while considering, the anticipatory bail
application, the courts are not expected to discuss the merits OF
demerits of the evidence collected against the accused. A detail
examination has also to be avoided”. So, a detail examination of the
evidence collected is avoided. The discussion was made only to find
out whether there is a prima facie case. Going by AIR.2011 SC
312( supra), the court need to consider the gravity of the offence,
antecedents, chance of absconding, repetition of crime, tampering of
evidence, prima facie case etc. Here, going by the entire CD file and
from the admitted facts, prima facie, there are sufficient materials to
presume that the petitioner/accused instigated the deceased to
commit suicide. Here, one of the submission of the learned counsel for
the petitioner was that, the petitioner made bonafide comments based
on the complaint received regarding corruption against the deceased.
Though, she had a case that one Mr. Gangadharan and Prasanth made
allegation of corruption against the deceased and she had pinpointed
the allegation of bribe made by Mr. Prasanth for obtaining NOC for
petrol pump, but she did not produce the copy of the complaint. She

has produced only the copy of the alleged complaint given by Mr.
Gangadharan. But, as rightly pointed out by the learned Public
Prosecutor and the counsel for the wife of the victim, there is no
allegation of bribe in that complaint. The learned counsel for the wife
of the deceased has submitted that, there is absolutely no evidence to
show that the deceased received bribe and he did any form of
corruption. In the contrary, the statements of witnesses so far
recorded would clearly go to show that he had got a clear image
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among his colleagues and subordinates. He is a straightforwary
person having good reputation. Of-course, going by the statement of
District Collector, one can see that after the function on 14.10.2024,
the deceased met him from his chamber. The deceased said to the
District Collector that he committed a mistake. Of-course, it cannot be
taken that it is an admission of receiving bribe or other form of
corruption. Even otherwise, if, the deceased is a person who has no
integrity and had received bribe, the petitioner/accused on getting the
information ought to have set the law in motion by approaching
appropriate law enforcing authority. In this country, we have all the
machineries and authorities to handle such instances. No person is
expected to take the law into hands. What was expected from a public
servant like the petitioner herein who has got vast experience, is to

approach the proper forum or authority. Instead of doing so, under the

guise of fighting against corruption, she did the alleged act, pre-

planned and premeditated with the intention of insulting the

deceased. As submitted by the learned Public Prosecutor and the
learned counsel for the wife of the deceased, whenever she got
information about corruption by the deceased, she would have
approached the Vigilance Department or Police. She did not do so.
Instead of that, she opted to humiliate and insult the deceased in the
presence of his superior and subordinates. She got her speech in the
function recorded by local Television Channel and circulated the video
even at Pathanamthitta, the native place of the deceased. This insult
and humiliation driven the deceased to take the extreme step. Frorﬁ
the available materials in this case, there is nothing to attribute any
corruption or absence of integrity to the deceased. So, a person of

integrity who was insulted and humiliated in the presence of his
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erl '
superior and subordinates, had committed suicide as he had no other
option.

34. The learned counsel for the petitioner has submitted that, the
deceased was not a layman. He was a high ranking officer in Revenue
Department. The petitioner made the comments in his presence and if
the allegations were wrong, he would have reacted then and there. He
would have made a complaint against the petitioner. So, the deceased
had several options. So, according to the learned counsel, that shows
that comments made by the petitioner did not instigate the deceased
to commit suicide. His argument was that based on the complaint
given by Mr. Prasanth, the Vigilance and Anti-corruption Bureau has
initiated proceedings against the deceased. In anticipation of the
consequence, the deceased committed suicide. But, as submitted by
the learned counsel for the wife of the deceased, no documents
produced to show that there was an enquiry by the Vigilance
Department, based on the alleged complaint given by Mr. Prasanth.
Here, the prosecution has no case that Vigilance department has
started enquiry against the deceased. So, one can see that there is
prima facie case against the petitioner. Of-course, she is a responsible
public servant, the President of District Panchayath, now resigned.
There is no likelihood of repetition of similar offence and flee from
justice. But, from the other parameters and the factors to be
considered as held by the Hon’ble Supreme Court and High Court, one
can see that the petitioner’s role in the alleged offence is very evident.
Prima facie, there are sufficient materials to presume that she has
committed the above offence. She is a political leader having

influence. So, the chance of influencing the witnesses also cannot be

ruled out.
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35. It is argued that custodial interrogation of the petitioner is
not required as there is nothing to be recovered. So, she is entitled for
bail. Regarding this aspect, the learned counsel for the wife of the
deceased has invited my attention to the ruling reported in Sumitha
Pradeep vs. Arun Kumar 2022 SCC Online SC 1529 and submitted that
simply because custodial interrogation is not required, the petitioner
is not entitled for Anticipatory Bail. There, the apex court has held as

follows:

“In many anticipatory bail matters, we have noticed one common
argument being canvassed that no custodial interrogation is required
and, therefore, anticipatory bail may be granted. There appears to be
a serious misconception of law that if no case for custodial
interrogation is made out by the prosecution, then that alone would be
a good ground to grant anticipatory bail. Custodial interrogation can
be one of the relevant aspects to be considered along with other
grounds while deciding an application seeking anticipatory bail. There
may be many cases in which the custodial interrogation of the accused
may not be required, but that does not mean that the prima facie case
against the accused should be ignored or overlooked and he should be
granted anticipatory bail. The first and foremost thing that the court
hearing an anticipatory bail application should consider is the prima
facie case put up against the accused. Thereafter, the nature of the
offence should be looked into along with the severity of the
punishment. Custodial interrogation can be one of the grounds to
decline anticipatory bail. However, even if custodial interrogation is
not required or necessitated, by itself, cannot be a ground to grant
anticipatory bail.” So, going by the above ruling of the apex court,
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one can S i
see that simply because custodial interrogation 15 not

S
equired, the accused cannot be granted anticipatory bail.

36. Another submission of the learned counsel for the petitioner
was that the petitioner herein is a lady having lot of responsibilities.
She has got a family consists of husband, daughter, aged and sick
parents. She has to look after them. The Jearned counsel has invited
my attention to the first proviso of Section 480 of BNSS and submitted
that, going by the above proviso, except in the case of offence
punishable with death or life imprisonment, if the accused is a lady or
child or sick or infirm, he 1is entitled for bail. In this regard, the
learned counsel has also invited my attention to the rulings reported
in 2015 KHC 3015 Pawanbala Wife of Prem Chand V. State of H.P and
Bhavani Revanna vs. State of Karnataka. Going by the above rulings,
one can S€€ that, there is no proposition that in every case€ if the
accused 1s a lady, she is entitled for bail. There, the circumstances of
the case are entirely different from the present one. Going by the
above proviso of Section 480 of BNSS itself, one can se€ that the
Jegislature has used the word ‘may’ instead of ‘shall’. So, it is the
discretion of the court by considering the facts and circumstances of
each case. Here, in this case, [ am of the opinion that the above
rulings will not help the petitioner. Here, the circumstances itself
disentitle her the relief of pre-arrest bail. The act of the petitioner is a
preplanned and premeditated one with the sole intention of insulting
and humiliating a highly reputed high ranking Government official.
AS submitted by the learned Public Prosecutor, if such a person is
granted the relief of pre-arrest bail, definitely it may give a wrong

message to the society. By considering her political power, one can
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presume that there is every possibility of influencing the witnesses by

using her influence.

37. In Jai Prakash Singh V. State of Bihar & Others 2012 KHC
4187, the Apex Court has held that, “There’s no substantial difference
between s. 438 & S. 439 Cr.PC so far as appreciation of the case as to
whether or not a bail is to be granted, is concerned. However, neith‘er
anticipatory bail nor regular bail can be granted as a matter of rule.

The anticipatory bail being an extraordinary privilegqe should be

garanted only in exceptional cases. The judicial discretion conferred
upon the court has to be properly exercised after proper application of
mind to decide whether it is a fit case for grant of anticipatory bail.”

38. So, from the above discussion and by considering the entire
aspects including the gravity of the offence, the active role played by.
the accused, I am of the opinion that this is not a fit case to grant the |
relief of pre-arrest bail. The petitioner could not make out a case that

this is an exceptional case and she is entitled for pre-arrest bail.

Accordingly, the petition is dismissed.

(Dictated to the Confidential A
her, corrected and

of October, 2024).

ssistant transcribed and typed by
pronounced by me in open Court, this the 29t day
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